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Explanatory Note

This Amendment No.1 on Form 20-F/A (the “Amendment No.1”) to the annual report on Form 20-F of TOTAL S.A. (the “Company”) for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (the “2018 Form 20-F”) is being filed solely for the purpose of providing an amended Exhibit 15.1,
containing excerpted pages and sections of the amended 2018 Registration Document of the Company, which cancels and replaces the
version of such document filed with the French Autorité des marchés financiers on March 20, 2019. The changes to Exhibit 15.1 consist of (i)
the deletion of the last line of page 160 (chapter 4, point 4.3.2.2) “Stock options may be granted to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”
following the Board of Directors’ decision of April 25, 2019 not to submit to the vote of the Shareholders’ Meeting of May 29, 2019, the twelfth
resolution concerning the authorization granted to the Board to grant share subscription or purchase options and (i) the rectification of data
related to future production costs and future development costs reported for the Middle East and North Africa area for the consolidated
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018 (pages 375 and 377 of the 2018 Registration Document — chapter 9, points 9.1.8. and 9.1.9). The
remainder of the 2018 Registration Document remains unchanged.

All references to the “2018 Registration Document” in the 2018 Form 20-F are references only to those pages, points and chapters in Exhibit
15.1 to this Amendment No.1.

Other than as expressly set forth above, the Company has not modified or updated any other disclosures and has made no changes to the
items or sections in the Company’s 2018 Form 20-F. Other than as expressly set forth above, this Amendment No.1 does not, and does not
purport to, amend, update or restate the information in any part of the Company’s 2018 Form 20-F or reflect any events that have occurred
after the 2018 Form 20-F was filed on March 20, 2019. The filing of this Amendment No.1, and the inclusion of newly executed certifications,
should not be understood to mean that any other statements contained in the original filing are true and complete as of any date subsequent
to March 20, 2019. Accordingly, this Amendment No.1 and Exhibit 15.1 hereto should be read in conjunction with the 2018 Form 20-F and
the documents filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission by the Company subsequent to March 20, 2019, including
any amendments to such documents.

Basis of presentation

References in this annual report on Form 20-F to pages and sections of the 2018 Registration Document are references only to those pages
and sections of TOTALs Registration Document for the year ended December 31, 2018 attached in Exhibit 15.1 to this Form 20-F. Other than
as expressly provided herein, the 2018 Registration Document is not incorporated herein by reference.

TOTALs Consolidated Financial Statements, which start on page 249 of the 2018 Registration Document and are incorporated herein by
reference, are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and IFRS as adopted by the European Union (EU) as of December 31, 2018.

In addition, this annual report on Form 20-F and the 2018 Registration Document contain certain measures that are not defined by generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) such as IFRS. Our management uses these financial measures, along with the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures, in evaluating our operating performance. We believe that presentation of this information, along with
comparable GAAP measures, is useful to investors because it allows investors to understand the primary method used by management to
evaluate performance on a meaningful basis. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for,
financial information presented in compliance with GAAP. Non-GAAP financial measures as reported by us may not be comparable with
similarly titled amounts reported by other companies.

Statements regarding competitive position

Unless otherwise indicated, statements made in “Item 4. Information on the company” referring to TOTAL's competitive position are based on
the Company’s estimates, and in some cases rely on a range of sources, including investment analysts’ reports, independent market studies
and TOTALs internal assessments of market share based on publicly available information about the financial results and performance of
market participants.

Additional information

This annual report on Form 20-F reports information primarily regarding TOTAL's business, operations and financial information relating to the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. For more recent updates regarding TOTAL, you may inspect any reports, statements or other
information TOTAL files with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). All of TOTALs SEC filings made after
December 31, 2001 are available to the public at the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov and from certain commercial document retrieval
services. See also “Item 10. — 10.8 Documents on display”.

No material on the TOTAL website forms any part of this annual report on Form 20-F. References in this annual report on Form 20-F to
documents on the TOTAL website are included as an aid to the location of such documents and such documents are not incorporated by
reference.

Certain terms, abbreviations and conversion table

For the meanings of certain terms used in this document, as well as certain abbreviations and a conversion table, refer to the “Glossary”
starting on page 423 of the 2018 Registration Document, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Cautionary statement concerning forward-looking statements

TOTAL has made certain forward-looking statements in this document and in the documents referred to in, or incorporated by reference into,
this annual report. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of the
management of TOTAL and on the information currently available to such management. Forward-looking statements include information
concerning forecasts, projections, anticipated synergies, and other information concerning possible or assumed future results of TOTAL, and

may be preceded by, followed by, or otherwise include the words “believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “targets”, “estimates”
or similar expressions.
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Forward-looking statements are not assurances of results or values. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. TOTALs future results
and share value may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. Many of the factors that will determine these
results and values are beyond TOTAL's ability to control or predict. Except for its ongoing obligations to disclose material information as
required by applicable securities laws, TOTAL does not have any intention or obligation to update forward-looking statements after the
distribution of this document, even if new information, future events or other circumstances have made them incorrect or misleading.

Various factors, certain of which are discussed elsewhere in this document and in the documents referred to in, or incorporated by reference
into, this document, could affect the future results of TOTAL and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in such
forward-looking statements, including:

material adverse changes in general economic conditions or in the markets served by TOTAL, including changes in the prices of olil,
natural gas, refined products, petrochemical products and other chemicals;

changes in currency exchange rates and currency devaluations;

the success and the economic efficiency of oil and natural gas exploration, development and production programs, including, without
limitation, those that are not controlled and/or operated by TOTAL;

uncertainties about estimates of changes in proven and potential reserves and the capabilities of production facilities;

uncertainties about the ability to control unit costs in exploration, production, refining and marketing (including refining margins) and
chemicals;

changes in the current capital expenditure plans of TOTAL;

the ability of TOTAL to realize anticipated cost savings, synergies and operating efficiencies;

the financial resources of competitors;

changes in laws and regulations, including tax and environmental laws and industrial safety regulations;
the quality of future opportunities that may be presented to or pursued by TOTAL;

the ability to generate cash flow or obtain financing to fund growth and the cost of such financing and liquidity conditions in the capital
markets generally;

the ability to obtain governmental or regulatory approvals;

the ability to respond to challenges in international markets, including political or economic conditions (including national and international
armed conflict) and trade and regulatory matters (including actual or proposed sanctions on companies that conduct business in certain
countries);

the ability to complete and integrate appropriate acquisitions, strategic alliances and joint ventures;

changes in the political environment that adversely affect exploration, production licenses and contractual rights or impose minimum
drilling obligations, price controls, nationalization or expropriation, and regulation of refining and marketing, chemicals and power
generating activities;

the possibility that other unpredictable events such as labor disputes or industrial accidents will adversely affect the business of TOTAL;
and

the risk that TOTAL will inadequately hedge the price of crude oil or finished products.

For additional factors, please refer to “ltem 3. — 3.2 Risk factors”, “ltem 5. Operating and financial review and prospects” and “ltem 11.
Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk”.
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ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.

31 Selected financial data

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

The following table presents selected consolidated financial data for TOTAL on the basis of IFRS as issued by the IASB and IFRS as adopted
by the EU for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014. Effective January 1, 2014, TOTAL changed the presentation
currency of the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements from the Euro to the US Dollar. ERNST & YOUNG Audit and KPMG Audit, a
division of KPMG S.A., independent registered public accounting firms and the Company’s auditors, audited the historical Consolidated
Financial Statements of TOTAL for these periods from which the financial data presented below for such periods are derived. All such data
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto starting on page 249 of the 2018 Registration
Document, which are incorporated herein by reference.

(MS, except share and per share data) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Revenues from sales 184,106 149,099 127,925 143,421 212,018
Net income, Group share 11,446 8,631 6,196 5,087 4,244
Earnings per share (3) $4.27 $3.36 $2.52 $2.17 $1.87
Fully diluted earnings per share ($) $4.24 $3.34 $2.51 $2.16 $1.86
CASH FLOW STATEMENT DATA
Cash flow from operating activities 24,703 22,319 16,521 19,946 25,608
Total expenditures 22,185 16,896 20,530 28,033 30,509
BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total assets 256,762 242,631 230,978 224,484 229,798
Non-current financial debt 40,129 41,340 43,067 44,464 45,481
Non-controlling interests 2,474 2,481 2,894 2,915 3,201
Shareholders’ equity — Group share 115,640 111,556 98,680 92,494 90,330
— Common shares 8,227 7,882 7,604 7,670 7,518
DIVIDENDS
Dividend per share (€) €2.56@ €2.48 €2.45 €2.44 €2.44
Dividend per share (s) $2.94@0) $2.96 $2.61 $2.67 $2.93

COMMON SHARES ©

Average number outstanding
of common shares €2.50 par value
(shares undiluted)

Average number outstanding
of common shares €2.50 par value
(shares diluted)

2,607,456,934

2,623,716,444

2,481,802,636

2,494,756,413

2,379,182,155

2,389,713,936

2,295,037,940

2,304,435,542

2,272,859,5612

2,281,004,1561

(a) Subject to approval by the shareholders’ meeting on May 29, 2019.
(b) Estimated dividend in dollars includes the first quarterly interim ADR dividend of $0.74 paid in October 2018 and the second quarterly interim ADR dividend of $0.74 paid in January 2019, as

well as the third quarterly interim ADR dividend of $0.73 payable in April 2019 and the proposed final interim ADR dividend of $0.73 payable in June 2019, both converted at a rate of $1.15/€.
(c) The number of common shares shown has been used to calculate per share amounts.
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3.2 Risk factors

The Group and its businesses are subject to various risks relating to changing competitive, economic, political, legal, social, industry, business
and financial conditions, including changes in such conditions. Point 3.1 (“Risk factors”) of chapter 3 of the 2018 Registration Document
(starting on page 74) is incorporated herein by reference.

For additional information on these conditions, along with TOTAL's approaches to managing certain of these risks, please refer to “ltem 5.
Operating and financial review and prospects” and “ltem 11. Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk”, as well as points 3.3
(“Internal control and risk management procedures”) and 3.5 (“Vigilance Plan”) of chapter 3 (starting on pages 86 and 93, respectively) of the
2018 Registration Document, which are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

The following information providing an integrated overview of the Group from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by
reference:

— presentation of the Group and its governance (point 1.1 of chapter 1, starting on page 4);

— the Group’s collective ambition and strategy (point 1.2 of chapter 1, on page 9);

— history, employees, integrated business model and geographic presence (point 1.3 of chapter 1, starting on page 10);

— an overview of the Group’s R&D, investment policy and sustainable development initiatives (point 1.5 of chapter 1, on page 23); and
— organizational structure (point 1.6 of chapter 1, starting on page 26).

The following information providing an overview of the Group’s businesses and activities from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated
herein by reference:

— business overview for fiscal year 2018 (points 2.1 to 2.4 of chapter 2, starting on page 32);

— information concerning the Group’s principal capital expenditures and divestitures (point 2.5 of chapter 2, starting on page 68). See also
“Item 5. Operating and financial review and prospects”; and

— geographical breakdown of the Group’s sales, property, plants and equipment, intangible assets and capital expenditures over the past
three years (Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, on page 276).

The following other information from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by reference:
— insurance policy (point 3.4 of chapter 3, starting on page 92);
— non-financial performance (points 5.1 to 5.11 of chapter 5, starting on page 179); and

— investor relations (point 6.6 of chapter 6, starting on page 239).

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

This section is the Company’s analysis of its financial performance and of significant trends that may affect its future performance. It should be
read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page
249), which are incorporated herein by reference. The Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto are prepared in accordance
with IFRS as issued by the IASB and IFRS as adopted by the EU.

This section contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. For a list of important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements, see “Cautionary Statement Concerning
Forward-Looking Statements” starting on page i.

Critical accounting policies and standards applicable in the future

For an overview of TOTAL’s critical accounting policies, including policies involving management’s judgment and estimates and significant
accounting policies applicable in the future, refer to the Introduction and Note 1.2 (“Significant accounting policies applicable in the future”) of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on pages 260 and 262, respectively), which
is incorporated herein by reference.

51 Overview

TOTALS results are affected by a variety of factors, including changes in crude oil and natural gas prices as well as refining and marketing
margins, which are all generally expressed in dollars, and changes in exchange rates, particularly the value of the euro compared to the dollar.
Higher crude oil and natural gas prices generally have a positive effect on the income of TOTAL, since the Exploration & Production segment’s
oil and gas business and Gas, Renewables & Power segment’s downstream gas business are positively impacted by the resulting increase in
revenues. Lower crude oil and natural gas prices generally have a corresponding negative effect. The effect of changes in crude oil prices on
the activities of TOTAL's Refining & Chemicals and Marketing & Services segments depends upon the speed at which the prices of refined
petroleum products adjust to reflect such changes. TOTAL's results are also significantly affected by the costs of its activities, in particular
those related to exploration and production, and by the outcome of its strategic decisions with respect to cost reduction efforts. In addition,
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TOTALS results are affected by general economic and political conditions and changes in governmental laws and regulations, as well as by
the impact of decisions by OPEC on production levels. For more information, refer to “ltem 3. — 3.2 Risk factors”.

Benefiting from the rise of oil prices to $71/b on average in 2018 compared to $54/b in 2017, while remaining volatile, the Group reported
adjusted net income of $13.6 billion in 2018, an increase of 28%, a return on average capital employed close to 12%, the highest among the
majors, and a pre-dividend breakeven below $30/b.

These excellent results reflect the strong growth of more than 8% for the Group’s hydrocarbon production, which reached a record level of
2.8 Mboe/d in 2018 and led to a 71% increase in Exploration & Production’s adjusted net operating income. The year was highlighted by the
start-up of Ichthys in Australia, Yamal LNG in Russia, deep-water projects Kaombo Norte in Angola and Egina in Nigeria, as well as the
counter-cyclical acquisitions of Maersk Oil and new offshore licenses in the United Arab Emirates.

TOTALs net income (Group share) in 2018 increased by 33% to $11,446 million in 2018 compared to $8,631 million in 2017, mainly due to
higher hydrocarbon prices and growth of the Group’s production. Adjustments to net income (Group share), which include the after-tax
inventory effect, special items and the impact of changes in fair value, had a negative impact of $2,113 million in 2018. Excluding these items,
as mentioned above, adjusted net income (Group share) increased by 28% to $13,559 million in 2018, compared to $10,578 million in 2017,
in line with the contribution from the segments. For additional information, refer to “- 5.2 Group results 2016-2018” and “- 5.3 Business
segment reporting”, below.

In addition, the Group maintained its financial discipline. Net investments " were $15.6 billion in 2018, in line with its objective, and $4.2 billion
in cost reduction was achieved. Debt adjusted cash flow (DACF)®@ was $26 billion in 2018, driven largely by the 31% increase in cash flow
from Exploration & Production. The Group’s balance sheet was solid with a gearing® ratio of 15.5%, below the target limit of 20%.

The Group is continuing to expand along the value chain of integrated gas and low-carbon electricity. With its acquisition of Engie’s LNG
assets TOTAL is the second largest publicly-traded player in the LNG business, and its position will be strengthened with the 2019 start-up of
the Cameron LNG project. In addition, the Group accelerated its growth in low-carbon electricity, notably with the acquisition of Direct
Energie.

In an environment of lower European refining margins, the Downstream relied on the availability of its units and the diversity of its portfolio to
generate $6.5 billion of cash flow and profitability of more than 25%. The Group is continuing to implement its strategy for growth in
petrochemicals by launching projects in the United States, Saudi Arabia, South Korea and Algeria. TOTAL has also continued to expand
Marketing & Services in fast-growing areas, notably in Mexico, Brazil and Angola.

Conforming to the shareholder return policy announced in February 2018, the Group increased the 2018 dividend by 3.2% and bought back
$1.5 billion of its shares in 2018. Given the solid financial position, which is benefiting from growing cash flow, the Board of Directors
confirmed the shareholder return policy for 2019. It plans to increase the interim dividend by 3.1% to 0.66 euros per share, end the scrip
dividend option following the general assembly mesting, and continue the share buyback policy in the amount of $1.5 billion in a $60/b
environment.

Outlook

Since the start of 2019, Brent has traded around $60/b in a context of il supply and demand near the record-high level of 100 Mb/d. In a
volatile environment, the Group is pursuing its strategy for integrated growth along the oil, gas and low-carbon electricity chains.

The Group has clear visibility on its 2019 cash flow, supported by the strong contribution of project start-ups in 2018 and recent acquisitions.

The Group maintains financial discipline to reduce its breakeven to remain profitable across a broader range of environments. In particular, it is
targeting cost reductions of $4.7 billion, projected net investments of $15-16 billion in 2019 and an Opex target of $5.5/boe.

In Exploration & Production, production is expected to grow by more than 9% in 2019, thanks to the ramp-ups of Kaombo Norte, Egina and
Ichthys plus the start-ups of lara 1 in Brazil, Kaombo South in Angola, Culzean in the UK and Johan Sverdrup in Norway. Determined to take
advantage of the favorable cost environment, the Group plans to launch projects in 2019, notably including Mero 2 in Brazil, Tilenga and
Kingfisher in Uganda and Arctic LNG 2 in Russia.

The Group is pursuing its strategy for profitable growth along the integrated gas and low-carbon electricity chains. Effective 2019, the Group
will report the new iGRP segment (integrated Gas, Renewables & Power) which combines the Gas, Renewables & Power segment with the
upstream gas and LNG activities currently reported within the Exploration & Production segment.

Affected by an abundance of available products, European refining margins have been very volatile since the start of the year. In 2019, the
Downstream will continue to rely on its diversified portfolio, notably its integrated Refining & Chemical platforms in the U.S. and Asia-Middle
East as well as its non-cyclical Marketing & Services segment.

In this context, the Group is continuing to implement its shareholder return policy announced in February 2018, by increasing the dividend in
2019 by 3.1%, in line with the objective to increase the dividend by 10% over the 2018-20 period. Taking into account its strong financial
position, the Group will eliminate the scrip dividend option from June 2019. Within the framework of its program to buy back $5 billion of
shares over the 2018-20 period, the Group expects to buy back $1.5 billion of its shares in 2019 in a $60/b Brent environment (for additional
information concerning the Group’s dividends and dividend policy, refer to point 6.2 of chapter 6 (starting on page 229) of the 2018
Registration Document, which is incorporated herein by reference).

(1) Net investments = gross investments — divestments — repayment of non-current loans — other operations with non-controlling interests.

(2) DACF= debt adjusted cash flow, is defined as cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital at replacement cost, without financial charges.

(3) “Gearing” refers to the net-debt-to-capital-ratio. “Net-debt-to-capital-ratio”= net debt/ (net debt + shareholders’ equity). For additional information, refer to Note 15.1(E) (“Net-debt-to-capital
ratio”) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (on page 325), which is incorporated herein by reference.
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5.2 Group results 2016-2018

As of and for the year ended December 31, (MS, except per share data) 2018 2017 2016
Non-Group sales 209,363 171,493 149,743
Adjusted net operating income from business segments @
— Exploration & Production 10,210 5,985 3,217
— Gas, Renewables & Power 756 485 439
— Refining & Chemicals 3,379 3,790 4,195
— Marketing & Services 1,652 1,676 1,559
Net income (loss) from equity affiliates 3,170 2,015 2,214
Fully-diluted earnings per share (3) 4.24 3.34 2.51
Fully-diluted weighted-average shares (millions) 2,624 2,495 2,390
Net income (Group share) 11,446 8,631 6,196
Gross investments © 22,185 16,896 20,530
Divestments © 7,239 5,264 2,877
Net investments @ 15,568 11,636 17,757
Organic investments © 12,426 14,395 17,484
Resource acquisitions 4,493 714 780
Cash flow from operating activities 24,703 22,319 16,521
Of which: .
— (increase)/decrease in working capital @ 769 827 (1,119)
— financial charges (1,538) (1,048) (593)

(a) Adjusted results are defined as income using replacement cost, adjusted for special items, excluding the impact of changes in fair value. See “- 5.3 Business segment reporting” below
for further details.

(b) Including acquisitions and increases in non-current loans. For additional information on investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

() Including divestments and reimbursements of non-current loans.

(d) “Net investments” = gross investments — divestments — repayment of non-current loans — other operations with non-controlling interests. For additional information on investments, refer
to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(e) “Organic investments” = net investments, excluding acquisitions, divestments and other operations with non-controlling interests. For additional information on investments, refer to point
2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(f) “Resource acquisitions”= acquisition of a participating interest in an oil and gas mining property by way of an assignment of rights and obligations in the corresponding permit or license
and related contracts, with a view to producing the recoverable oil and gas.

(9) The change in working capital as determined using the replacement cost method was $174 million in 2018, $1,184 million in 2017 and $(467) million in 2016. For information on the
replacement cost method, refer to Note 3 (“Business segment information”) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is
incorporated herein by reference.

2018 vs. 2017

The Brent price rose to $71/b on average in 2018 from $54/b in 2017, while remaining volatile. In 2018, TOTAL's average liquids price
realization™ increased by 28% to $64.2/b in 2018 from $50.2/b in 2017. TOTALs average gas price realization® increased by 17% to
$4.78/Mbtu in 2018 from $4.08/Mbtu in 2017. The Group’s European Refining Margin Indicator (‘ERMI”)© decreased by 21% to $32.3/t on
average in 2018 compared to $40.9/t in 2017, mainly due to rising crude oil prices.

The euro-dollar exchange rate averaged $1.1810/€ in 2018, compared to $1.1297/€ in 2017.

Non-Group sales were $209,363 million in 2018 compared to $171,493 million in 2017, an increase of 22% reflecting the increased
hydrocarbon prices and Group production. Non-Group sales increased 30% for the Exploration & Production segment, 26% for the Gas,
Renewables & Power segment, 22% for the Refining & Chemicals segment and 21% for the Marketing & Services segment.

Net income (Group share) in 2018 increased by 33% to $11,446 million in 2018 compared to $8,631 million in 2017, mainly due to higher
hydrocarbon prices and growth of the Group’s production. Adjustments to net income (Group share), which include the after-tax inventory
effect, special items and the impact of changes in fair value, had a negative impact of $2,113 million in 2018, mainly due to an inventory effect
and an impairment on Ichthys related to the sale of a partial interest by the Group, as well as the impairment of production facilities by
SunPower®, For a detailed overview of adjustment items for 2018, refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018
Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein by reference. In 2017, adjustments to net income (Group share),
which included special items of $(2,213) million and after-tax inventory valuation effect of $282 million, had a negative impact on net income
(Group share) of $1,947 million. Special items in 2017 included mainly an impairment of Fort Hills in Canada (following the operator
announcement of the increase of the project’s costs), Gladstone LNG in Australia and assets in Congo, partially offset by a gain on the sale of
Atotech. Excluding these items, adjusted net income increased by 28% to $13,559 million in 2018, compared to $10,578 million in 2017, in
line with the contribution from the segments.

Income taxes in 2018 amounted to $6,516 million, 2.2 times higher than $3,029 million in 2017, due to the relative weight and higher tax rates
in the Exploration & Production segment in a higher hydrocarbon price environment.

(1) Consolidated subsidiaries, excluding fixed margins.

(2) Consolidated subsidiaries, excluding fixed margins.

(3) The ERMI is a Group indicator intended to represent the margin after variable costs for a hypothetical complex refinery located around Rotterdam in Northern Europe that processes a mix
of crude oil and other inputs commonly supplied to this region to produce and market the main refined products at prevailing prices in this region. The indicator margin may not be
representative of the actual margins achieved by the Group in any period because of the Group’s particular refinery configurations, product mix effects or other company-specific
operating conditions.

(4) As of December 31, 2018, TOTAL held an interest of 55.66% in SunPower, an American company listed on NASDAQ and based in California.

TOTAL Form 20-F 2018



In 2018, the Company bought back 72,766,481 TOTAL shares on the market, i.e., 2.76% of the Company’s outstanding share capital as of
December 31, 2018. See also “- 5.4.4 Shareholders’ equity”, below. In 2017, the Company did not buy back any shares.

Fully-diluted earnings per share was $4.24 in 2018 compared to $3.34 in 2017, an increase of 27%.

Asset sales completed were $5,172 million for the full-year 2018, comprised mainly of the sale of a 4% interest in the Ichthys project in
Australia and the sale of the Group’s share of the LNG re-gas terminal at Dunkirk, as well as the sale of Joslyn in Canada, Rabi in Gabon, the
Martin Linge and Visund fields in Norway, an interest in Fort Hills in Canada, SunPower’s sale of its interest in 8point3, the marketing activities
of TotalErg in Italy, the Marketing & Services network in Haiti, and the contribution of the Bayport polyethylene unit in the United States to the
joint venture formed with Borealis and Nova in which TOTAL holds 50%. Asset sales were $4,239 million in 2017.

Acquisitions completed were $8,314 million for the full-year in 2018, including $4,493 million in resource acquisitions, comprised of the
extension of licenses in Nigeria and the acquisition of a network of service stations in Brazil, as well as notably the acquisitions of Direct
Energie, Engie’s LNG business, the increase in the share of Novatek to 19.4%, interests in the lara and Lapa fields in Brazil, two new 40-year
offshore concessions in Abu Dhabi, which follow the previous Abu Dhabi Marine Areas Ltd (ADMA) offshore concession, and the acquisition of
offshore assets from Cobalt in the Gulf of Mexico. Acquisitions were $1,476 million in 2017, including $714 million in resource acquisitions.

The Group’s cash flow from operating activities for the full-year 2018 was $24,703 million, an increase of 11% compared to $22,319 million
for the full-year 2017. The change in working capital at replacement cost for the full-year 2018, which is the decrease in working capital of
$769 million as determined in accordance with IFRS adjusted for the pre-tax inventory valuation effect of $(595) million, was $174 million
compared to $1,184 million for the full-year 2017. Operating cash flow excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost for the full
year 2018 was $24,529 million, an increase of 16% compared to $21,135 million for the full-year 2017. Operating cash flow excluding the
change in working capital at replacement cost and excluding financial charges (DACF) for the full-year 2018 was $26,067 million, an increase
of 18% compared to $22,183 million for the full-year 2017. The Group’s net cash flow ) was $8,961 million for the full-year 2018 compared to
$9,499 million for the full-year 2017, due to an increase of $3,932 million in net investments partially offset by a $3,394 million increase in
operating cash flow before changes in working capital.

See also “- 5.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources”, below.

2017 vs. 2016

The Brent price rose to $54/b on average in 2017 from $44/b in 2016 while remaining volatile. In 2017, TOTAL's average liquids price
realization increased by 25% to $50.2/b from $40.3/b in 2016. TOTALs average natural gas price realization for the Group’s consolidated
subsidiaries increased by 15% to $4.08/Mbtu in 2017 from $3.56/Mbtu in 2016. The Group’s ERMI increased to $40.9/t on average in 2017
compared to $34.1/t in 2016, an increase of 20% due to elevated petroleum product demand. In the fourth quarter of 2017, the ERMI was
$35.5/t. Petrochemicals continued to benefit from a favorable environment albeit down compared to a year ago.

The euro-dollar exchange rate averaged $1.13/€ in 2017 compared to $1.11/€ in 2016.

In this overall more favorable environment, non-Group sales in 2017 were $171,493 milion compared to $149,743 million in 2016, an
increase of 15% reflecting the increased hydrocarbon prices and Group production. Non-Group sales increased 11% for the Exploration &
Production segment, 27% for the Gas, Renewables & Power segment, 15% for the Refining & Chemicals segment and 12% for the Marketing
& Services segment.

Net income (Group share) in 2017 increased by 39% to $8,631 million from $6,196 million in 2016, mainly due to higher hydrocarbon prices
and growth of the Group’s production. In 2017, adjustments to net income (Group share), which included special items of $(2,213) million and
after-tax inventory valuation effect of $282 million, had a negative impact on net income (Group share) of $1,947 million. Special items
included mainly an impairment of Fort Hills in Canada (following the operator announcement of the increase of the project’s costs), Gladstone
LNG in Australia and assets in Congo, partially offset by a gain on the sale of Atotech. In 2016, adjustments to net income (Group share),
which included special items of $(2,567) million and after-tax inventory valuation effect of $479 million, had a negative impact on net income
(Group share) of $2,091 million. Special items in 2016 included impairments on Gladstone LNG in Australia, Angola LNG, and Laggan-Tormore
in the United Kingdom, reflecting the decrease in gas price assumptions for the coming years. Excluding these items, adjusted net income in
2017 increased by 28% to $10,578 million compared to $8,287 million in 2016. The increase was the result of a much higher contribution
from Exploration & Production and the continued decrease in the Group’s breakeven.

Income taxes in 2017 amounted to $3,029 million, 3.1 times higher than $970 million in 2016, due to the relative weight and higher tax rates
in the Exploration & Production segment in a higher hydrocarbon price environment.

In 2017, the Company did not buy back any of its shares. In 2016, the Company bought back 100,331,268 TOTAL treasury shares owned by
Group affiliates under the authorization granted by the shareholders at the meeting of May 24, 2016, which were subsequently canceled by
the Company’s Board of Directors.

Fully-diluted earnings per share was $3.34 in 2017 compared to $2.51 in 2016, an increase of 33%.

Asset sales completed in 2017 were $4,239 million, essentially comprised of the sale of Atotech, mature assets in Gabon, Gina Krog in
Norway, part of the interest in the Fort Hills project in Canada, the SPMR pipeline in France and LPG activities in Germany. Asset sales
completed in 2016 were $1,864 million.

Acquisitions completed in 2017 were $1,476 million, including $714 million of resource acquisitions, mainly comprised of the bonus related to
the license for Elk-Antelope in Papua New Guinea, a marketing and logistics network in East Africa and a 23% equity share in Tellurian, Inc.
Acquisitions completed in 2016 were $2,033 million, including $780 million of resource acquisitions.

In addition, in early 2018, the Group finalized the acquisition of assets in Brazil from Petrobras for $1.95 billion as well as the sale of TotalErg in
Italy for $415 million (including the B2B and the LPG businesses). Finally, in March 2018, TOTAL S.A. finalized the acquisition of Meaersk Oil in
a share and debt transaction.

(1) “Net cash flow”= cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes at replacement costs — net investments (including other transactions with non-controlling interests).
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The Group’s cash flow from operating activities for the full-year 2017 was $22,319 million, an increase of 35% compared to $16,521 million in
2016. The change in working capital at replacement cost for the full-year 2017, which is the decrease in working capital of $827 million as
determined in accordance with IFRS adjusted for the pre-tax inventory valuation effect of $357 million, was $1,184 million compared to $(467)
million in 2016. Operating cash flow excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost for the full-year 2017 was $21,135 million,
an increase of 24% compared to $16,988 million in 2016. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2017 excluding the change in working capital
at replacement cost and without financial charges (DACF) was $22,183 million, an increase of 26% compared to $17,581 million in 2016. The
Group’s net cash flow was $9,499 million for the full-year 2017 compared to $(769) million in 2016, mainly due to the nearly $4 billion increase
in operating cash flow before working capital changes, the decrease in net investments related to the $3 bilion decrease in organic
investments and the sale of Atotech.

See also “- 5.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources”, below.

53 Business segment reporting

The financial information for each business segment is reported on the same basis as that used internally by the chief operating decision-maker
in assessing segment performance and the allocation of segment resources. Due to their particular nature or significance, certain transactions
qualifying as “special items” are excluded from the business segment figures. In general, special items relate to transactions that are
significant, infrequent or unusual. In certain instances, certain transactions such as restructuring costs or asset disposals, which are not
considered to be representative of the normal course of business, may qualify as special items although they may have occurred in prior years
or are likely to recur in following years.

In accordance with IAS 2, the Group values inventories of petroleum products in its financial statements according to the First-In, First-Out
(FIFO) method and other inventories using the weighted-average cost method. Under the FIFO method, the cost of inventory is based on the
historic cost of acquisition or manufacture rather than the current replacement cost. In volatile energy markets, this can have a significant
distorting effect on the reported income. Accordingly, the adjusted results of the Refining & Chemicals and Marketing & Services segments are
presented according to the replacement cost method in order to facilitate the comparability of the Group’s results with those of its competitors
and to help illustrate the operating performance of these segments excluding the impact of oil price changes on the replacement of inventories.
In the replacement cost method, which approximates the Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) method, the variation of inventory values in the statement of
income is, depending on the nature of the inventory, determined using either the month-end price differential between one period and another
or the average prices of the period. The inventory valuation effect is the difference between the results under the FIFO and replacement cost
methods.

The effect of changes in fair value presented as an adjustment item reflects, for trading inventories and storage contracts, differences between
internal measures of performance used by TOTAL's management and the accounting for these transactions under IFRS, which requires that
trading inventories be recorded at their fair value using period-end spot prices. In order to best reflect the management of economic exposure
through derivative transactions, internal indicators used to measure performance include valuations of trading inventories recorded at their fair
value based on forward prices. Furthermore, TOTAL, in its trading activities, enters into storage contracts, the future effects of which are
recorded at fair value in the Group’s internal economic performance. IFRS, by requiring accounting for storage contracts on an accrual basis,
precludes recognition of this fair value effect.

The adjusted business segment results (adjusted operating income and adjusted net operating income) are defined as replacement cost
results, adjusted for special items, excluding the effect of changes in fair value. For further information on the adjustments affecting operating
income on a segment-by-segment basis, and for a reconciliation of segment figures to figures reported in the Company’s audited Consolidated
Financial Statements, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which
is incorporated herein by reference.

The Group measures performance at the segment level on the basis of adjusted net operating income. Net operating income comprises
operating income of the relevant segment after deducting the amortization and the depreciation of intangible assets other than leasehold
rights, translation adjustments and gains or losses on the sale of assets, as well as all other income and expenses related to capital employed
(dividends from non-consolidated companies, income from equity affiliates and capitalized interest expenses) and after income taxes applicable
to the above. The income and expenses not included in net operating income that are included in net income are interest expenses related to
long-term liabilities net of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents, after applicable income taxes (net cost of net debt and non-controlling
interests). Adjusted net operating income excludes the effect of the adjustments (special items and the inventory valuation effect) described
above. For further discussion of the calculation of net operating income and the calculation of return on average capital employed (ROACE ),
see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein
by reference.

As of January 1, 2018, the reporting of the cash flow from operations at the segment level changed due to the transfer of financial charges to
the Corporate segment. The Corporate segment includes the Group’s holdings operating and financial activities. As a result of this change in
reporting, the 2017 and 2016 comparative information is restated at the segment level.

(1) “ROACE” = ratio of adjusted net operating income to average capital employed at replacement cost between the beginning and the end of the period.
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531 Exploration & Production segment

Environment - liquids and gas price realizations @ 2018 2017 2016
Brent (S/) 71.3 54.2 43.7
Average liquids price (S/b) 64.2 50.2 40.3
Average gas price (S/Mbtu) 4.78 4.08 3.56
Average hydrocarbons price (S/boe) 51.0 38.7 31.9

(a) Consolidated subsidiaries, excluding fixed margins.

Hydrocarbon production 2018 2017 2016
Combined production (kboe/d) 2,775 2,566 2,452
Qil (including bitumen) (kb/d) 1,378 1,167 1,088
Gas (including Condensates and associated LPG) (kboe/d) 1,397 1,399 1,364
Hydrocarbon production 2018 2017 2016
Combined production (kboe/d) 2,775 2,566 2,452
Liquids (kb/a) 1,566 1,346 1,271
Gas (Mcf/d) 6,599 6,662 6,447
Results (MS) 2018 2017 2016
Non-Group sales 10,989 8,477 7,629
Operating income @ 12,570 2,792 (431)
Net income (loss) from equity affiliates and other items 2,686 1,546 1,375
Effective tax rate® 46.5% 41.2% 27.7%
Tax on net operating income (6,068) (2,233) 401
Net operating income @ 9,188 2,105 1,345
Adjustments affecting net operating income 1,022 3,880 1,872
Adjusted net operating income © 10,210 5,985 3,217

— of which income from equity affiliates 2,341 1,542 1,363
Gross investments © 15,282 12,802 16,085
Divestments © 4,952 1,918 2,187
Organic investments @ 9,186 11,310 14,464
ROACE 9% 6% 3%

(a) For the definitions of “operating income” and “net operating income”, refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) “Effective tax rate” = tax on adjusted net operating income / (adjusted net operating income — income from equity affiliates — dividends received from investments — impairment of goodwill
+ tax on adjusted net operating income).

(c) Adjusted for special items. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Including acquisitions and increases in non-current loans. For additional information on investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page
68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(e) Including divestments and reimbursements of non-current loans.

(f) “Organic investments” = net investments, excluding acquisitions, divestments and other operations with non-controlling interests. For additional information on investments, refer to point
2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

2018 vs. 2017

In 2018, market conditions were more favorable than in 2017. The average realized price of liquids increased by 28% and the average realized
gas price by 17%.

For the full-year 2018, hydrocarbon production was 2,775 kboe/d, an increase of more than 8% compared to 2,566 in 2017, due to:
— +9% for start-ups and ramp-ups on new projects, notably Yamal LNG, Moho Nord, Fort Hills, Kashagan, Kaombo Norte and Ichthys.

— +3% portfolio effect. The addition of Maersk QOil, Al Shaheen in Qatar, Waha in Libya, Lapa and lara in Brazil as well as the acquisition of
an additional 0.5% of Novatek were partially offset by the expiration of the Mahakam permit at the end of 2017 and the sales of Visund in
Norway and Rabi in Gabon.

— -4% for natural field declines and PSC price effect (.

e price effect” refers to the impact of changing hydrocarbon prices on entitliement volumes from production sharing and buyback contracts. For example, as the price of oil or
1) The “PSC price effect” refers to the i t of changing hyd b i titl 1t vol f duction shari d buyback contracts. F | the price of oil
gas increases above certain pre-determined levels, TOTAL's share of production generally decreases.
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For a discussion of the Group’s proved reserves, refer to point 2.1.3 (“Reserves”) of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on
page 34), which is incorporated herein by reference. See also point 9.1 (“Oil and gas information pursuant to FASB Accounting Standards
Codlification 932”) of chapter 9 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 362), which is incorporated herein by reference, for
additional information on proved reserves, including tables showing changes in proved reserves by region.

Non-Group sales for the Exploration & Production segment in 2018 were $10,989 million compared to $8,477 million in 2017, an increase of
30%.

The segment’s adjusted net operating income was $10,210 million in 2018, an increase of 71% compared to $5,985 million in 2017, due to
the increase in hydrocarbon prices, despite a tax rate that increased in line with the increase in hydrocarbon prices, and strong production
growth.

The effective tax rate increased from 41.2% in 2017 to 46.5% in 2018, in line with the increase in oil prices.

Adjusted net operating income for the Exploration & Production segment excludes special items. In 2018, the exclusion of special items had
a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income of $1,022 million due to the impairment on Ichthys related to the sale of a
partial interest by the Group and other assets mainly located in Algeria, Colombia and Congo (for additional information, refer to Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein by reference). In
2017, the exclusion of special items had a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income of $3,880 million. Special items
mainly included impairments of Fort Hills in Canada (following the operator announcement of the increase of the project’s costs), Gladstone
LNG in Australia, assets in the Republic of the Congo and gas assets in the United Kingdom, as well as assets in the United States and
Norway.

Technical costs ™ for consolidated affiliates, calculated in accordance with ASC 932 @, continued decreasing to $18.9/boe in 2018, including
$5.7/boe of production costs, compared to $19.5/boe in 2017, including $5.4/boe of production costs.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2018 was $19,803 million, an increase of 54%
compared to $12,821 million for the full-year 2017. Operating cash flow excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost and
excluding financial charges for the full-year 2018 was $19,374 million, an increase of 31% compared to $14,753 million for the full-year 2017.
Operating cash flow before working capital changes less organic investments for the full-year 2018 was $10,210 million compared to
$5,985 million in 2017, an increase of 71%.

For information on the segment’s capital expenditures, refer to points 2.1.2 (“Exploration and development”) (on page 34) and 2.5 (“Investments”)
(starting on page 68) of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document, which are incorporated herein by reference. See also “- 5.4 Liquidity
and Capital Resources”, below.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2018 was 9% compared to 6% for the full-year 2017.

2017 vs. 2016

In 2017, market conditions were more favorable than in 2016. The average realized price of liquids increased by 25% and the average realized
gas price by 15%.

For the full-year 2017, hydrocarbon production was 2,566 thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day (kboe/d), an increase of 5% compared to
2,452 kboe/d in 2016, due to the following:

— +5% due to new start-ups and ramp-ups, notably Moho Nord, Kashagan, Edradour and Glenlivet, and Angola LNG;

— +2% portfolio effect, mainly due to taking over the giant Al Shaheen oil field concession in Qatar and acquiring an additional 75% interest
in the Barnett shale in the United States, partially offset by the exit from the southern sector in the Republic of the Congo and asset sales
in Norway;

— +1% related to improved security conditions in Libya and Nigeria; and
— -3% due to natural field decline, the PSC price effect and OPEC quotas.

Non-Group sales for the Exploration & Production segment in 2017 were $8,477 million compared to $7,629 million in 2016, an increase of
11%.

The segment’s adjusted net operating income was $5,985 million in 2017, an increase of 86% compared to $3,217 million in 2016, notably
due to production growth, cost reductions and an increase in oil and gas prices.

The effective tax rate increased from 27.7% in 2016 to 41.2% in 2017, in line with the rise in hydrocarbon prices.

Adjusted net operating income for the Exploration & Production segment excludes special items. The exclusion of special items had a positive
impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2017 of $3,880 million. Special items mainly included impairments of Fort Hills in
Canada (following the operator announcement of the increase of the project’s costs), Gladstone LNG in Australia, assets in the Republic of the
Congo and gas assets in the United Kingdom, as well as assets in the United States and Norway. In 2016, the exclusion of special items had
a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income of $1,872 million. Special items mainly included impairments on Gladstone
LNG in Australia, Angola LNG and Laggan-Tormore in the United Kingdom, reflecting the decrease in gas price assumptions for the coming
years.

Technical costs for consolidated affiliates, calculated in accordance with ASC 932 continued to fall, to $19.5/boe in 2017 compared to
$20.4/boe in 2016. This decrease was mainly due to the reduction in production costs from $5.9/boe in 2016 to $5.4/boe in 2017.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2017 was $12,821 million, an increase of 30%
compared to $9,866 million in 2016. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2017 excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost
and without financial charges was $14,753 million compared to $10,592 million in 2016, an increase of 39%.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2017 was 6% compared to 3% for the full-year 2016.

(1) “Technical costs” = (Production costs ASC932 + exploration charges + depreciation, depletion and amortization and valuation allowances ASC 932)/ Production ASC932 of the year
(2) Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification Topic 932, Extractive industries — Oil and Gas.
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53.2 Gas, Renewables & Power segment

Results (MS) 2018 2017 2016
Non-Group sales 16,136 12,854 10,124
Operating income @ (140) (276) (161)
Net income (loss) from equity affiliates and other items 318 31 71
Tax on net operating income (173) (140) (4)
Net operating income @ 5 (385) (94)
Adjustments affecting net operating income 751 870 533
Adjusted net operating income ® 756 485 439
Gross investments © 3,539 797 1,221
Divestments @ 931 73 166
Organic investments © 511 353 270
ROACE 11% 10% 9%

(a) For the definitions of “operating income” and “net operating income”, refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Adjusted for special items. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Including acquisitions and increases in non-current loans. For additional information on investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page
68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Including divestments and reimbursements of non-current loans.

(e) “Organic investments” = net investments, excluding acquisitions, divestments and other operations with non-controlling interests. For additional information on investments, refer to point
2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

2018 vs. 2017

Non-Group sales for the Gas, Renewables & Power segment in 2018 were $16,136 million compared to $12,854 million in 2017, an increase
of 26%.

The segment’s adjusted net operating income was $756 million in 2018, 1.6 times higher than $485 million in 2017, notably due to the good
performance of LNG and gas/power trading activities. The acquisitions of Direct Energie and the LNG business of Engie account for the
increase in investments to $3.5 billion in the full-year 2018, 4.4 times higher than $797 million in the full-year 2017.

Adjusted net operating income for the Gas, Renewables & Power segment excludes special items. The exclusion of special items had a
positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2018 of $751 million. Special items included the impairment of production
facilities by SunPower (for additional information, refer to Note 3(D) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration
Document (starting on page 275), which is incorporated herein by reference). In 2017, the exclusion of special items had a positive impact on
the segment’s adjusted net operating income of $870 million.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2018 was $(670) million compared to
$1,055 million for the full-year 2017. The increase in working capital related to the consolidation of the acquisitions of Direct Energie and the
LNG business of Engie was mainly responsible for the negative cash flow from operations in the full-year 2018. Operating cash flow excluding
the change in working capital at replacement cost and excluding financial charges was $513 million for the full-year 2018, an increase of 74%
compared to $294 million for the full-year 2017.

For information on the segment’s investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which
is incorporated herein by reference. See also “- 5.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources”, below.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2018 was 11% compared to 10% for the full year 2017.

2017 vs. 2016

Non-Group sales for the Gas, Renewables & Power segment in 2017 were $12,854 million compared to $10,124 million in 2016, an increase
of 27%.

The segment’s adjusted net operating income was $485 million in 2017, an increase of 10% compared to $439 million in 2016.

Adjusted net operating income for the Gas, Renewables & Power segment excludes special items. The exclusion of special items had a
positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2017 of $870 million. Special items included an impairment concerning
SunPower 1 in the United States given the depressed economic environment of the solar activity. In 2016, the exclusion of special items had
a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income of $533 million.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2017 was $1,055 million, an increase of 79%
compared to $589 million in 2016. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2017 excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost and
without financial charges was $294 million compared to $176 million in 2016, an increase of 67%.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2017 was 10% compared to 9% for the full year 2016.

(1) At December 31, 2017, TOTAL held an interest of 56.26% in SunPower, an American company listed on NASDAQ and based in California.
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5.3.3 Refining & Chemicals segment

Refinery throughput and utilization rates @ 2018 2017 2016
Total refinery throughput (kb/d) 1,852 1,827 1,965
- France 610 624 669
— Rest of Europe 755 767 802
— Rest of World 487 436 494
Utilization rates based on crude only © 88% 88% 85%

(@) Includes share of TotalErg, and African refineries reported in the Marketing & Services segment.
(b) Based on distillation capacity at the beginning of the year.

Results (MS, except ERMI) 2018 2017 2016
European refining margin indicator (“ERMI”) (/) 32.3 40.9 34.1
Non-Group sales 92,025 75,505 65,632
Operating income @ 2,513 4,170 4,991
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates and other items 782 2,979 779
Tax on net operating income (445) (944) (1,244)
Net operating income @ 2,850 6,205 4,526
Adjustments affecting net operating income 529 (2,415) (831)
Adjusted net operating income © 3,379 3,790 4,195
Gross investments © 1,781 1,734 1,861
Divestments @ 919 2,820 88
Organic investments © 1,604 1,625 1,642
ROACE 31% 33% 38%

(a) For the definitions of “operating income” and “net operating income”, refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Adjusted for special items. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Including acquisitions and increases in non-current loans. For additional information on investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page
68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Including divestments and reimbursements of non-current loans.

(e) “Organic investments” = net investments, excluding acquisitions, divestments and other operations with non-controlling interests. For additional information on investments, refer to point
2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

2018 vs. 2017

Refinery throughput was stable in full-year 2018 compared to full-year 2017. Lower throughput in Europe linked to planned maintenance,
notably at Antwerp during the second quarter, was offset by higher throughput outside Europe. The ERMI decreased to $32.3/t on average in
2018 compared to $40.9/t in 2017, a decrease of 21% mainly due to rising crude oil prices.

Non-Group sales for the Refining & Chemicals segment in 2018 were $92,025 million compared to $75,505 million in 2017, an increase of
22%.

The segment’s adjusted net operating income was resilient at $3,379 million for the full-year 2018, a decrease of 11% compared to
$3,790 million in 2017.

Adjusted net operating income for the Refining & Chemicals segment excludes any after-tax inventory valuation effect and special items. The
exclusion of the inventory valuation effect had a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2018 of $413 million
compared to a negative impact of $298 million in 2017. The exclusion of special items had a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net
operating income in 2018 of $116 million, compared to a negative impact of $2,117 million in 2017.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2018 was $4,308 million, a decrease of 42%
compared to $7,411 million for the full-year 2017. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2018 excluding the change in working capital at
replacement cost and excluding financial charges was $4,388 million compared to $4,728 million for the full-year 2017, a decrease of 7%.

For information on the segment’s investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which
is incorporated herein by reference. See also “- 5.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources”, below.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2018 was 31% compared to 33% for the full year 2017.

2017 vs. 2016

Refinery throughput decreased by 7% for the full-year 2017 compared to 2016 as a result of the definitive ending of distillation capacity at La
Mede (France) and Lindsey (UK) and the temporary shutdown due to Hurricane Harvey in the United States. The ERMI increased to $40.9/t
on average in 2017 compared to $34.1/t in 2016, an increase of 20% due to elevated petroleum product demand. In the fourth quarter of
2017, the ERMI was $35.5/t. Petrochemicals continued to benefit from a favorable environment albeit down compared to a year ago.

Non-Group sales for the Refining & Chemicals segment in 2017 were $75,505 million compared to $65,632 million in 2016, an increase of 15%.
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The segment’s adjusted net operating income was $3,790 million for the full-year 2017, a decrease of 10% compared to $4,195 million in
2016, notably due to the impact of Hurricane Harvey, the impact of modernization work on the Antwerp platform and the sale of Atotech in
early 2017 as well as lower trading results due to the evolution of the market into backwardation .

Adjusted net operating income for the Refining & Chemicals segment excludes any after-tax inventory valuation effect and special items. The
exclusion of the inventory valuation effect had a negative impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2017 of $298 million
compared to a negative impact of $500 million in 2016. The exclusion of special items had a negative impact on the segment’s adjusted net
operating income in 2017 of $2,117 million, consisting essentially of a gain on the sale of Atotech, compared to a positive impact of
$169 million in 2016.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2017 was $7,411 million, an increase of 62%
compared to $4,584 million in 2016. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2017 excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost
and without financial charges was $4,728 million compared to $4,873 million in 2016, a decrease of 3%.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2017 was 33% compared to 38% for the full year 2016.

534  Marketing & Services segment

Petroleum product sales @ (kb/d) 2018 2017 2016
Total Marketing & Services sales 1,801 1,779 1,793
— Europe 1,001 1,049 1,093
- Rest of world 800 730 700

(@) Excludes trading and bulk Refining sales, which are reported under the Refining & Chemicals segment; includes share of TotalErg.

Results (MS) 2018 2017 2016
Non-Group sales 90,206 74,634 66,351
Operating income @ 1,841 1,819 1,789
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates and other items 307 497 170
Tax on net operating income (5632) (561) (541)
Net operating income © 1,616 1,755 1,418
Adjustments affecting net operating income 36 (79) 141
Adjusted net operating income © 1,652 1,676 1,559
Gross investments © 1,458 1,457 1,245
Divestments @ 428 413 424
Organic investments © 1,010 1,019 1,003
ROACE 25% 26% 27%

(a) For the definitions of “operating income” and “net operating income”, refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Adjusted for special items. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 265), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Including acquisitions and increases in non-current loans. For additional information on investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page
68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Including divestments and reimbursements of non-current loans.

e) “Organic investments” = net investments, excluding acquisitions, divestments and other operations with non-controlling interests. For additional information on investments, refer to point
2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

2018 vs. 2017

In 2018, petroleum product sales increased by 1% compared to 2017. The sale of TotalErg in Italy was offset by higher sales in the rest of the
world.

Non-Group sales for the Marketing & Services segment in 2018 were $90,206 million compared to $74,634 million in 2017, an increase of
21%.

The segment’s adjusted net operating income was stable in 2018 at $1,652 million, a decrease of 1% compared to $1,676 million in 2017.

Adjusted net operating income for the Marketing & Services segment excludes any after-tax inventory valuation effect and special items. The
exclusion of the inventory valuation effect had a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2018 of $5 million
compared to a positive impact of $3 million in 2017. The exclusion of special items had a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net
operating income in 2018 of $31 million compared to a negative impact of $82 million in 2017.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2018 was $2,759 million, an increase of 24%
compared to $2,221 million in 2017. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2018 excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost
and without financial charges was $2,156 million compared to $2,242 million in 2017, a decrease of 4%.

For information on the Marketing & Services segment’s investments, refer to point 2.5 of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document
(starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference. See also “- 5.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources”, below.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2018 was 25% compared to 26% for the full year 2017.

(1) “Backwardation” is the price structure where the prompt price of an index is higher than the future price.
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2017 vs. 2016

In 2017, petroleum product sales were generally stable compared to the previous year, with a move toward Africa and Asia where the Group
has strong growth. European sales were affected by the divestment of mature LPG distribution activities in Belgium and Germany.

Non-Group sales for the Marketing & Services segment in 2017 were $74,634 million compared to $66,351 million in 2016, an increase of
12%.

The Marketing & Services segment’s results continue to grow in a context of strong retail margins, notably in Africa. The segment’s adjusted
net operating income in 2017 was $1,676 million, an increase of 8% compared to $1,559 million in 2016.

Adjusted net operating income for the Marketing & Services segment excludes any after-tax inventory valuation effect and special items. The
exclusion of the inventory valuation effect had a positive impact on the segment’s adjusted net operating income in 2017 of $3 million
compared to a positive impact of $13 million in 2016. The exclusion of special items had a negative impact on the segment’s adjusted net
operating income in 2017 of $82 million compared to a positive impact of $128 million in 2016.

The segment’s cash flow from operating activities excluding financial charges for the full-year 2017 was $2,221 million, an increase of 21%
compared to $1,833 million in 2016. Operating cash flow for the full-year 2017 excluding the change in working capital at replacement cost
and without financial charges was $2,242 million compared to $1,966 million in 2016, an increase of 14%.

In this context, the segment’s ROACE for the full-year 2017 was 26% compared to 27% for the full year 2016.

54 Liquidity and capital resources
MS) 2018 2017 2016
Cash flow from operating activities 24,703 22,319 16,521
Including (increase) decrease in working capital 769 827 (1,119)
Cash flow used in investing activities (14,946) (11,632) (17,653)
Total expenditures (22,185) (16,896) (20,530)
Total divestments 7,239 5,264 2,877
Cash flow from financing activities (13,925) (5,540) 3,532
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,168) 5,147 2,400
Effect of exchange rates (1,110) 3,441 (1,072)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 33,185 24,597 23,269
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 27,907 33,185 24,597

TOTALs cash requirements for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and dividend payments over the past three years were
financed primarily by a combination of funds generated from operations, borrowings and divestments of non-core assets. In the current
environment, TOTAL expects its external debt to be principally financed from the international debt capital markets. The Group continually
monitors the balance between cash flow from operating activities and net expenditures. In the Company’s opinion, its working capital is
sufficient for its present requirements.

541 Capital expenditures

The largest part of TOTAL's capital expenditures in 2018 of $22,185 million was made up of additions to intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment (approximately 75%), with the remainder attributable to equity-method affiliates and to acquisitions of subsidiaries. In the
Exploration & Production segment, as described in more detail under point 9.1.6 (“Cost incurred”) of chapter 9 of the 2018 Registration
Document (on page 373), which is incorporated herein by reference, capital expenditures in 2018 were principally development costs
(approximately 68%, mainly for construction of new production facilities), exploration expenditures (successful or unsuccessful, approximately
4%) and acquisitions of proved and unproved properties (approximately 28%). In the Gas, Renewables & Power segment, approximately 80%
of capital expenditures in 2018 were acquisitions, with the balance being related mainly to facilities investments. In the Refining & Chemicals
segment, approximately 83% of capital expenditures in 2018 were related to refining and petrochemical activities (essentially 71% for existing
units including maintenance and major turnarounds and 29% for new construction), the balance being related mainly to Hutchinson. In the
Marketing & Services segment, approximately 25% of capital expenditures in 2018 were acquisitions, with the balance being related to
expenditures mainly in Europe and Africa.

For additional information on capital expenditures, refer to the discussion above in “- 5.1 Overview”, “- 5.2 Group results 2016-2018” and “-
5.3 Business segment reporting”, above, as well as points 1.5.2 (“A targeted investment policy”) of chapter 1 (on page 23) and 2.5
(“Investments”) of chapter 2 (starting on page 68) of the 2018 Registration Document, which are incorporated herein by reference.

5.4.2 Cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities in 2018 was $24,703 million compared to $22,319 million in 2017 and $16,521 milion in 2016. The
increase of $2,384 million from 2017 to 2018 was mainly due to an increase of the net result.

Cash flow used in investing activities in 2018 was $14,946 million compared to $11,632 million in 2017 and $17,653 million in 2016. The
increase of $3,314 million from 2017 to 2018 was mainly due to higher expenditures on the portfolio of Exploration & Production and Gas,
Renewables & Power segments. The decrease of $6,021 million from 2016 to 2017 was mainly due to lower expenditures on the portfolio of
Exploration & Production projects and higher divestments mainly in the Refining & Chemicals segment (principally Atotech). Total expenditures
in 2018 were $22,185 million compared to $16,896 million in 2017 and $20,530 million in 2016. During 2018, 69% of the expenditures were
made by the Exploration & Production segment (as compared to 76% in 2017 and 78% in 2016), 16% by the Gas, Power & Renewables
segment (as compared to 5% in 2017 and 6% in 2016), 8% by the Refining & Chemicals segment (compared to 10% in 2017 and 9% in
2016) and 7% by the Marketing & Services segment (compared to 9% in 2017 and 6% in 2016). The main source of funding for these
expenditures was cash from operating activities and issuances of non-current debt. For additional information on expenditures, please refer to
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the discussions in “- 5.1 Overview”, “- 5.2 Group results 2016-2018” and “- 5.3 Business segment reporting”, above, and point 2.5
(“Investments”) of chapter 2 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 68), which is incorporated herein by reference.

Divestments, based on selling price and net of cash sold, in 2018 were $7,239 million compared to $5,264 million in 2017 and $2,877 million
in 2016. In 2018, the Group’s principal divestments were assets sales of $5,172 million, consisting of the reasons set forth in “- 5.2 Group
results 2016-2018” above. In 2017, the Group’s principal divestments were assets sales of $4,239 million, consisting mainly of sales of
Atotech, interests in the Gina Krog field in Norway and in various mature assets in Gabon. In 2016, the Group’s principal divestments were
asset sales of $1,864 million, consisting mainly of interests in the FUKA and SIRGE gas pipelines, and the St. Fergus gas terminal in the
United Kingdom.

Cash flow from/(used in) financing activities in 2018 was $(13,925) million compared to $(5,540) million in 2017 and $3,532 million in 2016.
The decrease in cash flow from financing activities in 2018 compared to 2017 was primarily due to the buyback of shares in 2018 ($(4,328)
million in 2018 compared to $0 in 2017), the decrease in the net issuance of non-current debt ($649 million in 2018 compared to $2,277 million
in 2017) and the decrease in current financial assets and liabilities ($(797) million in 2018 compared to an increase of $1,903 million in 2017).

543 Indebtedness

The Company’s non-current financial debt at year-end 2018 was $40,129 million®™ compared to $41,340 million at year-end 2017 and
$43,067 million at year-end 2016. For further information on the Company’s level of borrowing and the type of financial instruments, including
maturity profile of debt and currency and interest rate structure, see Note 15 (“Financial structure and financial costs”) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 320), which is incorporated herein by reference. For further
information on the Company’s treasury policies, including the use of instruments for hedging purposes and the currencies in which cash and
cash equivalents are held, see “ltem 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”.

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 2018 were $27,907 million compared to $33,185 million at year-end 2017 and $24,597 million at
year-end 2016.

On April 25, 2018, Moody’s upgraded TOTAL's outlook to positive, with a long term credit rating remaining Aa3.

544 Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity at year-end 2018 was $118,114 milion compared to $114,037 million at year-end 2017 and $101,574 milion at
year-end 2016. Changes in shareholders’ equity in 2018 were primarily due to the impacts of comprehensive income, dividend payments, the
issuance of common shares and buy-back shares in the context of the shareholder return policy announced in February 2018. Changes in
shareholders’ equity in 2017 were primarily due to the impacts of comprehensive income, dividend payments and the issuance of common
shares. Changes in shareholders’ equity in 2016 were primarily due to the impacts of comprehensive income, dividend payments, the
issuance of perpetual subordinated notes and the issuance of common shares.

In 2018, the Company bought back 72,766,481 TOTAL shares on the market, i.e., 2.76% of the share capital as of December 31, 2018.
71,950,977 TOTAL shares were bought back for cancellation, including:

— 47,229,037 shares in order to cancel the dilution related to the shares issued for payment (i) of the second and third interim dividends and
the final dividend for fiscal year 2017, as well as (i) the first interim dividend for fiscal year 2018; and

— 24,721,940 shares for $1.5 billion @, following the Board’s decision to buy back shares of the Company up to an amount of $5 billion over
the 2018-2020 period.

815,504 shares were bought back in order to cover the performance share plans approved by the Board of Directors on July 27, 2016, and
July 26, 2017.

Finally, the Board of Directors of TOTAL S.A, at a meeting held on December 12, 2018, decided, following the authorization of the Extraordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting on May 26, 2017, to cancel 44,590,699 treasury shares, including:

— 28,445,840 shares issued, with no discount, in 2018 for payment of the second and third interim dividends, as well as the final dividend,
for fiscal year 2017; and

— 16,144,859 shares bought back pursuant to the shareholder return policy, up to an amount of $5 billion over the 2018-2020 period.

This transaction had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of TOTAL S.A., the number of fully-diluted weighted-average shares
or on the earnings per share.

In 2017, the Company did not buy back any shares.

As regards fiscal year 2016, following the authorization granted by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of May 11, 2012, the Company’s
Board of Directors decided to cancel 100,331,268 treasury shares that the Company had bought back off-market in December 2016, under
the share buyback program authorized by the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 24, 2016, from four of its 100% indirectly controlled subsidiaries.

545 Net-debt-to-capital

As of December 31, 2018, TOTAL's net-debt-to-capital ratio® was 15.5% compared to 11.9% and 21.1% at year-ends 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The increase from 2017 to 2018 was mostly due to the increase of the net debt driven by the decrease in cash and cash
equivalents and also by the increase of equity explained above.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $11,515 million of long-term confirmed lines of credit, of which $11,515 million were unused.

(1) Excludes net current and non-current financial debt of $(15) million as of December 31, 2018, related to assets classified in accordance with IFRS 5 “non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations”. None as of December 31, 2017.

(2) Or€1.2 billion at the average exchange rate for 2018.

(3) For additional information, refer to Note 15.1(E) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (on page 325), which is incorporated herein by reference.
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5.5 Guarantees and other off-balance sheet arrangements

As of December 31, 2018, the guarantees provided by the Company in connection with the financing of the Ichthys LNG project amounted to
$9,425 million. As of December 31, 2017, the guarantees amounted to $8,500 million.

Guarantees given against borrowings also include the guarantee given by the Company in connection with the financing of the Yamal LNG
project, which amounted to $3,875 million as of December 31, 2018, compared to $4,038 million as of December 31, 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, TOTAL S.A. has confirmed guarantees for Total Refining Saudi Arabia SAS shareholders’ advances for an amount
of $1,462 million as in 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, the guarantee given in 2008 by TOTAL S.A. in connection with the financing of the Yemen LNG project amounts to
$551 million as in 2017.

As of December 31, 2018, guarantees provided by TOTAL S.A. in connection with the financing of the Bayport Polymers LLC project,
amounted to $1,820 million.

These guarantees and other information on the Company’s commitments and contingencies are presented in Note 13 (“Off balance sheet
commitments and lease contracts”) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 312),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

The Group does not currently consider that these guarantees, or any other off-balance sheet arrangements of the Company or any other
members of the Group, have or are reasonably likely to have, currently or in the future, a material effect on the Group’s financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operation, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

5.6 Contractual obligations
Less than More than

Payment due by period (MS) 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years Total
Non-current debt obligations @ - 9,156 9,916 18,712 37,784
Current portion of non-current debt obligations® 5,027 - - - 5,027
Finance lease obligations © 213 242 226 1,197 1,878
Asset retirement obligations @ 844 1,664 1,724 10,054 14,286
Operating lease obligations © 1,644 2,249 1,442 3,795 9,130
- Purchase obligations © 9,708 14,762 15,890 80,759 121,119
TOTAL 17,436 28,073 29,198 114,517 189,224

(@) Non-current debt obligations are included in the items “Non-current financial debt” and “Hedging instruments of non-current financial debt” of the Consolidated Balance Sheet (refer to
point 8.4 of chapter 8 of the 2018 Registration Document (on page 256), which is incorporated herein by reference). The figures in this table are net of the non-current portion of issue
swaps and swaps hedging bonds, and exclude non-current finance lease obligations of $1,665 million.

(b) The current portion of non-current debt is included in the items “Current borrowings”, “Current financial assets” and “Other current financial liabilities” of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
The figures in this table are net of the current portion of issue swaps and swaps hedging bonds and exclude the current portion of finance lease obligations of $213 million.

(c) Finance lease obligations and operating lease obligations: the Group leases real estate, retail stations, ships and other equipment through non-cancelable capital and operating leases.
These amounts represent the future minimum lease payments on non-cancelable leases to which the Group is committed as of December 31, 2018, less the financial expense due on
finance lease obligations for $934 million.

(d) The discounted present value of Exploration & Production asset retirement obligations, primarily asset removal costs at the completion date.

(e) Purchase obligations are obligations under contractual agreements to purchase goods or services, including capital projects. These obligations are enforceable and legally binding on
TOTAL and specify all significant terms, including the amount and the timing of the payments. These obligations mainly include: hydrocarbon unconditional purchase contracts (except
where an active, highly liquid market exists and when the hydrocarbons are expected to be re-sold shortly after purchase); reservation of transport capacities in pipelines; unconditional
exploration works and development works in the Exploration & Production segment; and contracts for capital investment projects in the Refining & Chemicals segment. This disclosure
does not include contractual exploration obligations with host states where a monetary value is not attributed and purchases of booking capacities in pipelines where the Group has a
participation superior to the capacity used.

For additional information on the Group’s contractual obligations, refer to Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018
Registration Document (starting on page 312), which is incorporated herein by reference. The Group has other obligations in connection with
pension plans that are described in Note 10 (“Payroll, staff and employee benefits obligations”) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 304), which is incorporated herein by reference. As these obligations are not contractually
fixed as to timing and amount, they have not been included in this disclosure. Other non-current liabilities, detailed in Note 12 (“Provisions and
other non-current liabilities”) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 310), which is
incorporated herein by reference, are liabilities related to risks that are probable and amounts that can be reasonably estimated. However, no
contractual agreements exist related to the settlement of such liabilities, and the timing of the settlement is not known.

57 Research and development

For a discussion of the Group’s R&D policies and activities, refer to points 1.5.1 of chapter 1 (on page 23) and 2.6 of chapter 2 (starting on
page 70) of the 2018 Registration Document, which are incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

The following information concerning directors and senior management from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by
reference:

— composition of the Board of Directors (introduction and point 4.1.1 of chapter 4, starting on page 112); and

— information concerning the General Management (point 4.1.5 of chapter 4, starting on page 138).

The following information concerning compensation from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by reference:
— approach to overall compensation (point 5.3.1.2 of chapter 5, starting on page 182); and

— compensation for the administration and management bodies (point 4.3 of chapter 4, starting on page 145).

The following information concerning Board practices and corporate governance from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein
by reference:

— practices of the Board of Directors (point 4.1.2 of chapter 4, starting on page 125);

— report of the Lead Independent Director on her mandate (point 4.1.3 of chapter 4, starting on page 137);
— evaluation of the functioning of the Board of Directors (point 4.1.4 of chapter 4, on page 138); and

— statement regarding corporate governance (point 4.2 of chapter 4, on page 145).

The following information concerning employees and share ownership from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by
reference:

— number and categories of employees (point 5.3.1.1 of chapter 5, starting on page 181);
— shares held by the administration and management bodies (point 4.1.6 of chapter 4, starting on page 143); and
— employee shareholding (point 6.4.2 of chapter 6, on page 237).

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following information concerning shareholders from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by reference:
— major shareholders (point 6.4.1 of chapter 6, starting on page 235); and
— shareholding structure (point 6.4.3 of chapter 6, on page 237).

The Group’s main transactions with related parties (principally all the investments carried under the equity method) and the balances receivable
from and payable to them are shown in point 8.3 of Note 8 (“Equity affiliates, other investments and related parties”) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 294), which is incorporated herein by reference). In the ordinary
course of its business, TOTAL enters into transactions with various organizations with which certain of its directors or executive officers may
be associated, but no such transactions of a material or unusual nature have been entered into during the period commencing on January 1,
2018, and ending on the date of this document.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following information from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by reference:
— Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto (chapter 8, starting on page 265);

— supplemental oil and gas information (points 9.1 and 9.2 of chapter 9, starting on page 362);
— report on payments made to governments (point 9.3 of chapter 9, starting on page 380);

— legal and arbitration proceedings (point 3.2 of chapter 3, starting on page 85); and

— dividend policy and other related information (point 6.2 of chapter 6, starting on page 229).

Except for certain events mentioned in “ltem 5. Operating and financial review and prospects”, point 3.2 (“Legal and arbitration proceedings”)
of chapter 3 (starting on page 85) and Note 17 (“Post closing events”) to the Consolidated Financial Statements (on page 339) of the 2018
Registration Document, which are incorporated herein by reference, no significant changes to the Group’s financial or commercial situation
have occurred since the date of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Refer to “ltem 18. Financial statements” for the reports of the statutory auditors.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING

9.1 Markets

The principal trading markets for the Company'’s shares are the following: Euronext Paris (France) and the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”,
United States). The shares are also listed on Euronext Brussels (Brussels) and the London Stock Exchange (United Kingdom).
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9.2 Offer and listing details

Provided below is certain information on trading on Euronext Paris and the New York Stock Exchange. For additional information on listing
details and share performance, refer to point 6.1 (“Listing details”) of chapter 6 of the 2018 Registration Document (starting on page 226),
which is incorporated herein by reference.

9.2.1 Trading on Euronext Paris

Official trading of listed securities on Euronext Paris, including the shares, is transacted through French investment service providers that are
members of Euronext Paris and takes place continuously on each business day in Paris from 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. (Paris time), with a fixing
of the closing price at 5:35 p.m. Euronext Paris may suspend or resume trading in a security listed on Euronext Paris if the quoted price of the
security exceeds certain price limits defined by the regulations of Euronext Paris.

The markets of Euronext Paris settle and transfer ownership two trading days after a transaction (T+2). Highly liquid shares, including those of
the Company, are eligible for deferred settlement (Service de Reglement Différé — SRD). Payment and delivery for shares under the SRD
occurs on the last trading day of each month. Use of the SRD service requires payment of a commission.

In France, the shares are included in the principal index published by Euronext Paris (the “CAC 40 Index”). The CAC 40 Index is derived daily
by comparing the total market capitalization of forty stocks traded on Euronext Paris to the total market capitalization of the stocks that made
up the CAC 40 Index on December 31, 1987. Adjustments are made to allow for expansion of the sample due to new issues. The CAC
40 index indicates trends in the French stock market as a whole and is one of the most widely followed stock price indices in France. In the
UK, the shares are listed in both the FTSE Eurotop 100 and FTSEurofirst 100 index. As a result of the creation of Euronext, the shares are
included in Euronext 100, the index representing Euronext’s blue chip companies based on market capitalization. The shares are also
included in the Stoxx Europe 50 and Euro Stoxx 50, blue chip indices comprised of the fifty most highly capitalized and most actively traded
equities throughout Europe and within the European Monetary Union, respectively. Since June 2000, the shares have been included in the
Dow Jones Global Titans 50 Index which consists of fifty global companies selected based on market capitalization, book value, assets,
revenue and earnings.

TOTALS ticker symbol for Euronext Paris is FP.

9.2.2 Trading on the New York Stock Exchange

ADSs evidenced by ADRs have been listed on the NYSE since October 25, 1991. JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. serves as depositary with
respect to the ADSs evidenced by ADRs traded on the NYSE. One ADS corresponds to one TOTAL share.

TOTALS ticker symbol for the NYSE is TOT.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

10.1 Share capital

The following information from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by reference:
— information concerning the share capital (point 7.1 of chapter 7, starting on page 242);

— the use of delegations of authority and power granted to the Board of Directors with respect to share capital increases (point 4.4.2 of
chapter 4, starting on page 170);

— information on share buybacks (point 6.3 of chapter 6, starting on page 232); and
— factors likely to have an impact in the event of a public offering (point 4.4.4 of chapter 4, starting on page 171).

10.2 Memorandum and articles of association

The following information from the 2018 Registration Document is incorporated herein by reference:
— information concerning the articles of incorporation and bylaws, and other information (point 7.2 of chapter 7, starting on page 244); and
— participation of shareholders at shareholders’ meetings (point 4.4.3 of chapter 4, on page 171).

10.3 Material contracts

There have been no material contracts (not entered into in the ordinary course of business) entered into by members of the Group since
March 20, 2017.

104 Exchange controls
Under current French exchange control regulations, no limits exist on the amount of payments that TOTAL may remit to residents of the

United States. Laws and regulations concerning foreign exchange controls do require, however, that an accredited intermediary must handle
all payments or transfer of funds made by a French resident to a non-resident.
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10.5 Taxation

10.5.1 General

This section generally summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax and French tax consequences of owning and disposing of shares or
ADSs of TOTAL to U.S. Holders that hold their shares or ADSs as capital assets for tax purposes. A U.S. Holder is a beneficial owner of
shares or ADSs that is (i) a citizen or resident of the United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (i) a domestic corporation or other
domestic entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (i) an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income
tax regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust if (1) a U.S. court can exercise primary supervision over the trust’s administration and one or more
U.S. persons are authorized to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) it has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury
regulations to be treated as a United States person.

This section does not address the Medicare tax on net investment income and does not apply to members of special classes of holders
subject to special rules, including without limitation:

— broker-dealers;

— traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings;
— tax-exempt organizations;

— certain financial institutions;

— insurance companies;

— U.S. pension funds;

— U.S. Regulated Investment Companies (RICs), Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs), and Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits
(REMICs);

— persons who are liable for the alternative minimum tax;

— persons that actually or constructively own 10% or more of the shares of TOTAL (by vote or value);

— persons who acquired the shares or ADS pursuant to the exercise of any employee share option or otherwise as consideration;
— persons that purchase or sell shares or ADSs as part of a wash sale for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

— persons holding offsetting positions in respect of the shares or ADSs (including as part of a straddle, hedging, conversion or integrated
transaction);

— persons subject to special tax accounting rules as a result of any item of gross income with respect to the shares or ADSs being taken
into account in an applicable financial statement;

— U.S. expatriates; and
— persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar.

If a partnership or other entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds shares or ADSs, the tax
treatment of a partner will generally depend upon the status of the partner and upon the activities of the partnership. Partners of a partnership
holding these shares or ADSs should consult their tax advisors as to the tax consequences of owning or disposing of shares or ADSs, as
applicable.

Under French law, specific rules apply to trusts, in particular specific tax and filing requirements; additionally, specific rules apply to wealth,
estate and gift taxes as they apply to trusts. Given the complex nature of these rules and the fact that their application varies depending on
the status of the trust, the grantor, the beneficiary and the assets held in the trust, the following summary does not address the tax treatment
of shares or ADSs held in a trust. If shares or ADSs are held in trust, the grantor, trustee and beneficiary are urged to consult their own tax
advisor regarding the specific tax consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing of shares or ADSs.

In addition, the discussion below is limited to U.S. Holders that (i) are residents of the United States for purposes of the Treaty (as defined
below), (i) do not maintain a permanent establishment or fixed base in France to which the shares or ADSs are attributable and through which
the respective U.S. Holders carry on, or have carried on, a business (or, if the holder is an individual, performs or has performed independent
personal services), and (i) are otherwise eligible for the benefits of the Treaty in respect of income and gain from the shares or ADSs (in
particular, under the “Limitation on Benefits” provision of the Treaty). In addition, this section is based in part upon the representations of the
Depositary and the assumption that each obligation in the Deposit Agreement and any related agreement will be performed in accordance
with its terms.

The discussions below of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders of owning and disposing of shares or ADSs of
TOTAL are based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (IRC), Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and judicial and
administrative interpretations thereof, all as in effect on the date hereof and all of which are subject to change, which change could apply
retroactively and could affect the tax consequences described below. The description of the material French tax consequences is based on
the laws of the Republic of France and French tax regulations, all as currently in effect, as well as on the Convention Between the United
States and the Republic of France for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income
and Capital dated August 31, 1994, as amended (the “Treaty”). These laws, regulations and the Treaty are subject to change, possibly on a
retroactive basis.

In general, and taking into account the earlier assumptions, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. Holder of ADRs evidencing ADSs will
be treated as the owner of the shares represented by those ADRs. Exchanges of shares for ADRs, and ADRs for shares, generally will not be
subject to U.S. federal income tax. The U.S. Treasury has expressed concerns that intermediaries in the chain of ownership between the
holder of an ADS and the issuer of the security underlying the ADS may be taking actions that are inconsistent with the beneficial ownership
of the underlying security. Accordingly, the creditability of any French taxes and the availability of the reduced tax rate for any dividends
received by certain non-corporate U.S. Holders (as discussed below), could be affected by actions taken by intermediaries in the chain of
ownership between the holders of the ADSs and TOTAL if as a result of such actions the U.S. Holders of the ADSs are not properly treated as
beneficial owners of underlying shares.

This discussion is intended only as a descriptive summary and does not purport to be a complete analysis or listing of all potential tax effects
of the ownership or disposition of the shares and ADSs and is not intended to substitute competent professional advice. Individual situations
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of holders of shares and ADSs may vary from the description made below. The following summary does not address the French tax treatment
applicable to dividends paid in so-called “Non Cooperative Countries and Territories” (“NCCT”) within the meaning of Article 238-0 A of the
French Code général des impdts (“French Tax Code”) as such provision or list may be amended from time to time or replaced by any other
provision or list having a similar purpose. It does not apply to dividends paid to persons established or domiciled in such a NCCT, or paid to a
bank account opened in a financial institution located in such a NCCT, nor does it apply to capital gains realized by persons established or
domiciled in such a NCCT. Furthermore, the following summary does not address the tax treatment applicable to temporary transfers and
other similar transactions which could, under certain conditions, fall within the scope of the new anti-abuse measure set forth in Article 119 bis A
of the French Tax Code with effect as from July 1, 2019.

Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal, state and local, and the French and other tax
consequences of owning and disposing shares or ADSs of TOTAL in their respective circumstances. In particular, a holder is
encouraged to confirm with its advisor whether the holder is a U.S. Holder eligible for the benefits of the Treaty.

10.5.2 Taxation of dividends

French taxation
The term “dividends” used in the following discussion means dividends within the meaning of the Treaty.

Dividends paid to non-residents of France who are U.S. Holders are in principle subject to a French withholding tax regardless of whether they
are paid in cash, in shares or a mix of both. The French withholding tax is levied (i) at a rate of 12.8% for dividends paid to U.S. Holders who
are individuals and (i) at a rate of 30% (to be reduced and aligned on the standard corporate income tax rate set forth in the second
paragraph of Article 219-1 of the French Tax Code which is set at a rate of (x) 28% for fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2020, (y)
26.5% for fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2021 and (z) 25% for fiscal years commencing on or after January 1, 2022) for
dividends paid to U.S. Holders that are legal entities (the “Legal Entities U.S. Holders”) subject to more favorable provisions of the Treaty as
described below and certain more favorable French domestic law provisions.

However, under the Treaty, a U.S. Holder is generally entitled to a reduced rate of French withholding tax of 15% with respect to dividends,
provided that certain requirements are satisfied. This reduced rate is, in practice, only of interest to Legal Entities U.S. Holders subject to the
withholding tax at a rate of 30%.

Administrative guidelines (Bulletin Officiel des Finances Publiques, BOI-INT-DG-20-20-20-20-20120912) (the “Administrative Guidelines”) set
forth the conditions under which the reduced French withholding tax at the rate of 15% may be available. The immediate application of the
reduced 15% rate is available to those U.S. Holders that may benefit from the so-called “simplified procedure” (within the meaning of the
Administrative Guidelines).

Under the “simplified procedure”, U.S. Holders may claim the immediate application of withholding tax at the rate of 15% on the dividends to
be received by them, provided that:

(i) they furnish to the U.S. financial institution managing their securities account a certificate of residence conforming with form No. 5000-FR.
The immediate application of the 15% withholding tax will be available only if the certificate of residence is sent to the U.S. financial
institution managing their securities account no later than the dividend payment date. Furthermore, each financial institution managing the
U.S. Holders’ securities account must also send to the French paying agent the figure of the total amount of dividends to be received
which are eligible to the reduced withholding tax rate before the dividend payment date; and

(i) the U.S. financial institution managing the U.S. Holder’s securities account provides the French paying agent with a list of the eligible U.S.
Holders and other pieces of information set forth in the Administrative Guidelines. Furthermore, the financial institution managing the U.S.
Holders’ securities account should certify that the U.S. Holder is, to the best of its knowledge, a United States resident within the meaning
of the Treaty. These documents must be sent to the French paying agent within a time frame that will allow the French paying agent to file
them no later than the end of the third month computed as from the end of the month of the dividend payment date.

Where the U.S. Holder’s identity and tax residence are known by the French paying agent, the latter may release such U.S. Holder from
furnishing to (i) the financial institution managing its securities account, or (i) as the case may be, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), the
abovementioned certificate of residence, and apply the 15% withholding tax rate to dividends it pays to such U.S. Holder.

For a U.S. Holder that is not entitled to the “simplified procedure” and whose identity and tax residence are not known by the paying agent at
the time of the payment, the 30% French withholding tax will be levied at the time the dividends are paid. Such U.S. Holder, however, may be
entitled to a refund of the withholding tax in excess of the 15% rate under the “standard procedure”, as opposed to the “simplified procedure”,
provided that the U.S. Holder furnishes to the French paying agent an application for refund on forms No. 5000-FR and 5001-FR (or any other
relevant form to be issued by the French tax authorities) certified by the U.S. financial institution managing the U.S. Holder’s securities account
(or, if not, by the competent U.S. tax authorities) before December 31 of the second year following the date of payment of the withholding tax
at the 30% rate to the French tax authorities, according to the requirements provided by the Administrative Guidelines.

Copies of forms No. 5000-FR and 5001-FR (or any other relevant form to be issued by the French tax authorities) as well as the form of the
certificate of residence and the U.S. financial institution certification, together with instructions, are available from the IRS and the French tax
authorities.

These forms, together with instructions, are to be provided by the Depositary to all U.S. Holders of ADRs registered with the Depositary. The
Depositary is to use reasonable efforts to follow the procedures established by the French tax authorities for U.S. Holders to benefit from the
immediate application of the 15% French withholding tax rate or, as the case may be, to recover the excess 15% French withholding tax
initially withheld and deducted in respect of dividends distributed to them by TOTAL. To effect such benefit or recovery, the Depositary shall
advise such U.S. Holder to return the relevant forms to it, properly completed and executed. Upon receipt of the relevant forms properly
completed and executed by such U.S. Holder, the Depositary shall cause them to be filed with the appropriate French tax authorities, and
upon receipt of any resulting remittance, the Depositary shall distribute to the U.S. Holder entitled thereto, as soon as practicable, the
proceeds thereof in U.S. dollars.

The identity and address of the French paying agent are available from TOTAL.
In addition, subject to certain specific filing obligations, there is no withholding tax on dividend payments made by French companies to:

(i) non-French collective investment funds formed under foreign law and established in a Member State of the European Union or in another
State or territory, such as the United States, that has entered with France into an administrative assistance agreement for the purpose of
combating fraud and tax evasion, and which fulfill the two following conditions: (a) the fund raises capital among a number of investors for
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the purpose of investing in accordance with a defined investment policy, in the interest of its investors, and (b) the fund has characteristics
similar to those of collective investment funds organized under French law fuffilling the conditions set forth in Article 119-bis 2, 2 of the
French Tax Code and the Administrative Guidelines Bulletin Officiel des Finances Publiques, BOI-RPPM-RCM-30-30-20-70-20170607
(i.e., among others, open-end mutual fund (OPCVM), open-end real estate fund (OPCI) and closed-end investment companies (SICAF));
and

(i) companies whose effective place of management is, or which have a permanent establishment receiving the dividends, in a Member
State of the European Union or in another State or territory that has entered with France into an administrative assistance agreement for
the purpose of combating fraud and tax evasion, such as the United States, that are in a loss-making position and subject, at the time of
the distribution, to insolvency proceedings similar to the one set out in Article L. 640-1 of the French Commercial Code (or where there is
no such procedure available, in a situation of cessation of payments with recovery being manifestly impossible) and that meet the other
conditions set out in Article 119 quinquies of the French Tax Code as specified by the Administrative Guidelines Bulletin Officiel des
Finances Publiques, BOI-RPPM-RCM-30-30-20-80-20160406.

Collective investment funds and companies mentioned in (i) above are urged to consult their own tax advisors to confirm whether they are
eligible to such provisions and under which conditions.

U.S. taxation

For U.S. federal income tax purposes and subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, the gross amount of any
dividend that a U.S. Holder must include in gross income equals the amount paid by TOTAL (i.e., the net distribution received plus any tax
withheld therefrom) to the extent of the current or accumulated earnings and profits of TOTAL (as determined for U.S. federal income tax
purposes). Dividends will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to a U.S. corporation under IRC section 243. Distributions,
if any, in excess of such current and accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes will constitute a
non-taxable return of capital to a U.S. Holder and will be applied against and reduce such U.S. Holder’s tax basis in such shares or ADS. To
the extent that such distributions are in excess of such basis, the distributions will constitute capital gain. Because TOTAL does not currently
maintain calculations of earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. Holder of shares or ADSs of TOTAL should expect
to treat distributions with respect to the shares or ADSs as dividends.

Dividends paid to a non-corporate U.S. Holder that constitute “qualified dividend income” will be taxable to the holder at the preferential rates
applicable to long-term capital gains provided (1) the Company is neither a passive foreign investment company nor treated as such with
respect to the U.S. Holder for the taxable year in which the dividend was paid and the preceding taxable year and (2) certain holding period
requirements are met. TOTAL believes that dividends paid by TOTAL with respect to its shares or ADSs will be qualified dividend income. The
dividend is taxable to the U.S. Holder when the holder, in the case of shares, or the Depositary, in the case of ADSs, receives the dividend,
actually or constructively.

The amount of any dividend distribution includible in the income of a U.S. Holder equals the U.S. dollar value of the euro payment made,
determined at the spot euro/dollar exchange rate on the date the dividend distribution is includible in the U.S. Holder’s income, regardless of
whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars. Any gain or loss resulting from currency exchange fluctuations during the period
from the date the dividend payment is includible in the U.S. Holder’s income to the date the payment is converted into U.S. dollars will
generally be treated as ordinary income or loss and, for foreign tax credit limitation purposes, from sources within the United States and will
not be eligible for the special tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income. The U.S. federal income tax rules governing the availability
and computation of foreign tax credits are complex. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors concerning the implications
of these rules in light of their particular circumstances.

Subject to certain conditions and limitations, U.S. Holders may elect to claim a credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability for the net
amount of French taxes withheld in accordance with the Treaty and paid over to the French tax authorities. The limitation on foreign taxes
eligible for credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. In addition, special rules apply in determining the foreign
tax credit limitation with respect to dividends that are subject to the preferential tax rates. To the extent a refund of the tax withheld is available
to a U.S. Holder under French law or under the Treaty, the amount of tax withheld that is refundable will not be eligible for credit against such
holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability. For this purpose, dividends distributed by TOTAL will generally constitute “passive income” for
purposes of computing the foreign tax credit allowable to the U.S. Holder.

If a U.S. Holder has the option to receive a distribution in shares (or ADSs) instead of cash, the distribution of shares (or ADSs) will be taxable
as if the holder had received an amount equal to the fair market value of the distributed shares (or ADSs), and such holder’s tax basis in the
distributed shares (or ADSs) will be equal to such amount.

10.5.3 Taxation of disposition of shares

Under French domestic law, a U.S. Holder will not be 